## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE	E RA	AFORD,	)		
		Petitioner,	)		
170			)	CACE	NO.SC01-379
VS.			)		No. 4D98-4341
STATE	OF	FLORIDA,	)		
		Respondent.	) ) )		

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On review from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida [Criminal Division].

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

STEVEN H. MALONE
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Willie Raford
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 305545

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant at trial and the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and the appellee.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged with the second degree felony of aggravated child abuse under Section 827.03(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1998). R4. He was convicted of a lesser offense of child abuse at jury trial, and the court orally entered judgment for the third degree felony of child abuse under Section 827.03(1), Fla. Stat. (1998)<sup>1</sup>. ST 11; R31. The court sentenced petitioner as a violent career criminal, habitual felony offender, and orally to five years as a Prison Releasee Reoffender, ST13, but to fifteen years PRR on the sentencing form. R37-39.

The conviction was affirmed on appeal in a written opinion, but the case was otherwise remanded to correct sentencing errors. Raford v. State, 4D98-4341 (4<sup>th</sup> DCA Sep. 20, 2000). Appellant filed a motion for rehearing or certification, and the court issued a corrected opinion January 17, 2001, Raford v. State, 4D98-4341, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D246 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA Jan. 17, 2001), certifying conflict with Wilson v. State, 744 So. 2d 1237, 1240 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA

1999). Notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was timely  $filed.^2$ 

The trial court's written judgment, however, refers to "child abuse" under section 827.041, Fla. Stat. (1998), R31, which was misdemeanor child abuse until October 1, 1996, but since that time is the first degree misdemeanor of contributing to the delinquency or dependency of a child. The Fourth District found the written judgment was a scrivener's error, and remanded for correction. Raford.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Court should accept jurisdiction. Art. V, §3(b)(3)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The child's natural father, Juan Lara, Sr., testified he is a paramedic. T229. His child, F. L., was living with his exwife, another of his children, J.L., Jr., and petitioner. T229. On January 4th, he picked up his children from the mother's residence at about 9 a.m. T230-31. The children's mother was not there, but petitioner was. T231. The children told him what happened. T232. His son F. had "[b]lack and blue bruises on his buttocks, legs, and lower back." T232. He took pictures. T233. He drove the children to the police station about 10 a.m. T234, spoke with the officers, as did his child, and the police took pictures. T236.

On cross, the father agreed there was nothing unusual at the house at the time he picked up his children. T237. When this incident occurred the child had a problem defecating in his pants, though he didn't anymore. T237. The father now has custody of the children, which he was awarded in January, and he and the mother divorced in June. T238. He knew petitioner had been living with the mother for several months before this happened. T238.

F.L., the child complainant, testified he was eight years old. T240. In January he lived with his mother, petitioner, and his brother. T241. He went to a party where petitioner hit him because he pooped in his pants. T241. That used to happen to

and (4), Fla. Const., Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Fla.R.App.P. See Clark v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S69 (Fla. Feb. 8, 2001)("`[T]he very act of certifying conflict creates confusion or uncertainty that should be resolved by the Court'").

him sometimes. Appellant used a belt to hit the child on "my butt, my back, and my leg." T242. They were at his cousin's house. It felt bad when he got hit; it hurt and he cried. T242. He told his brother. He showed his dad what happened the next day, but it did not still hurt the next day. T243.

On cross the child said sometimes he would poop his pants, at school or at a party or when he was playing with kids and got excited. T244. The day he got hit, his brother was playing with the phone, and the child was with him. T244. There was a bathroom at the house, but the child did not use it. T245. The child had to stay in the room until his mom got home, and after that he had some ice cream. T245. Then he went home with his mom and petitioner. T245. He did not tell his mother that night what happened, and didn't tell his dad until his brother mentioned something. T246.

J.L., F.'s ten year old brother, testified they had been at a party about an hour when he heard his brother in a room screaming. Later he saw him, and F. showed him the bruises and told him how he got them. He told his dad the next day. T248-9.

On cross, the witness said F. sometimes had a problem with pooping, and he had that day. T249. The day of the incident he and his brother had been playing with the phone, and he was going to call 911, though he had been told not to do that. T250. This was before he heard his brother scream. Their mom picked them up later, and they had ice cream and went to bed. He did not say anything to his mom about what happened. T250. It wasn't until

the next day when their dad picked them up and his dad saw the bruises that he said anything about it. T251. F. had not said anything up until that point.

A deputy testified he met with the child and his father on January  $4^{\rm th}$  at about 12:35 p.m., observed some marks on the child's body and photographed them. T252-4.

Detective Kaminsky testified he met with the father and took taped statements from petitioner, and others. T257. statement, petitioner relates that on January 3d he had to pick up some cakes for a party. His girlfriend had gone to work, and he was keeping the kids. T262. There were a lot of kids at the party. When petitioner came back from getting the cakes, the kids said F. had messed his pants and was playing on the phone, saying he was going to call the police. T262. Petitioner asked F. if he did "poo-poo" in his pants and was playing on the phone about calling the police, and he said yes. T263. So petitioner took him to the room to discipline him. He hit him with the belt about three times, and told him to stay in the room until his mom came home. T263. He made him stay in the room because he was playing on the phone, talking about calling the police, and had "shitted" his pants. T263. Petitioner told the mom when she came home. She spoke with the child F. and he admitted what happened. Petitioner said not to worry about it, he had already spanked him, and for him to go out and play. T263. The child then came down and played with the rest of the kids. Petitioner had hit him with a belt two or three times while the child was on his knees.

The child has had the problem with bowel movements since petitioner has known him, about seven months, and petitioner has been working with him on the problem. T264-266. The two were in another room alone when petitioner hit him with the belt, across the back and on the buttocks. T266. He hit him because he was playing on the phone, talking about calling the police, and then had a bowel movement in his clothes. T266. The child would have been able to go to the bathroom because they had one there. T267.

On cross the detective said he spoke with the child's father first, T268, became aware of the problem with bowel movements, and that the father was not present when the incident occurred. During his statement the child did not say he had pooped his pants. T271. The detective did not examine the child. T271.

The state rested, T272, and appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal because there was no proof the punishment was malicious, and there was no torture. T274. The state said it was proceeding on the malicious punishment theory. T275. The court looked at the photos, found the definition of malicious met, and denied the motion. T275.

At the charge conference the defense requested the lesser of misdemeanor battery, and the state asked for child abuse. T278. The court agreed to the state's requested lesser of child abuse over defense objection, and to the defense requested lesser of battery over state objection. T285.

During closing, the defense pointed to an inadequate investigation, T293-94, and invoked the parental privilege to the

greater and lesser charge. T296.

In the final instructions, the court accidentally read the alternative uncharged theory of aggravated child abuse, that "the defendant caused F.L. great bodily harm or permanent disability of permanent disfigurement" instead of the "lesser" offense of felony child abuse. T317-18. After some deliberation, the jury returned with questions regarding the definition of great bodily harm, and what constituted legal justification or excuse as it related to the definition of malicious punishment. T329-30. As the trial participants reviewed the instructions, the court realized it had read the wrong instruction, and had instructed the jury on the second degree felony of aggravated child abuse under an alternative theory, instead of the third degree felony of child abuse. T333-336. The court suggested eliminating the element requiring the jury find the defendant caused great bodily harm, permanent disability or disfigurement, which are not required for felony child abuse. T337. However, petitioner's counsel pointed out that would negate everything he said in closing argument about the "lesser", and then urged the court to tell the jury "to refer to the law and send them back, or start this thing over." T337. The prosecutor asked if counsel was going to ask for a mistrial, and the court said it would tell them to follow the law as instructed. The court then told counsel if the jury came back with

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Counsel had argued against conviction on the "lesser" of felony child abuse in part because there had been no showing of great bodily harm, permanent disability or permanent disfigurement. T295-96.

child abuse as defined, it would be a second degree felony. T338. There was additional discussion in which the state said the crime did not exist and pointed out the charge instructed on was not a lesser offense. T 338.

Defense counsel told the court since the crime was not a lesser he was requesting the court instruct the jury that child abuse was no longer a charge for their consideration, and that they should find the petitioner guilty as charged or guilty only of battery. T339. He pointed out he had objected to this lesser being given, and that it was given at the state's request, over his objection. T339. He had only requested battery. The court told counsel since the parties thought it was a lesser, but one element too many was given, if the jury returned a lesser on that count, the court would treat it as a third degree felony. Counsel said "I would have a hard time saying I was prejudiced by that one." T340. The state then complained that resolution would require it to prove an additional element. The court said it was charged with the responsibility to correctly instruct, but it was pretty hard for the state to object. The court said it could not tell the jury to disregard the element because the defense had relied on its absence in its closing argument. T341. Defense counsel then said the court should just instruct them they had heard the law. court did. T342.

The jury then returned a verdict of guilty of the "lesser" offense of child abuse based on the inaccurate instruction, as reflected on the verdict form. T347; R30.

In its decision affirming petitioner's felony child abuse conviction, the Fourth District summarized the facts:

Appellant, in attempting to discipline an eight-year-old child of the woman he had been living with for several months, struck him approximately three times with a belt, leaving welts which were visible the next day. He was convicted of third degree felony child abuse. He appeals, arguing that he was convicted of a crime with which he was not charged as a result of improper jury instructions and that he had a parental privilege to punish the child as he did. We affirm his conviction, but reverse the multiple sentences imposed.

In a statement appellant gave the police, which was in evidence, he related that he had been living with the eight-year-old victim and his mother for months. The victim had a bowel control problem which would cause him to defecate in his pants when he got excited. Appellant told the police he had been attempting to discipline the victim in order to teach him to control this problem in the past, and this time he hit the victim with a belt about three times. The victim had also been playing with the telephone, which he was not allowed to do. The victim's mother was not home when appellant inflicted the punishment, but appellant told the mother what had happened when she came home.

The victim's father picked him up the next day, and after being told what happened, took him to the police station where photographs were taken. The photographs show textured bruises on the boy's buttocks, leg, and back, approximately two inches wide, which were consistent with being struck three times with a belt. There was no indication of bleeding.

Raford, slip op. at 1.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

## Point 1.

The third degree felony child abuse upon which judgment was entered is not a lesser offense in this case because the circumstances involve parental discipline, so the judgment must be vacated and reduced to a misdemeanor or discharge. Wilson v. State, 744 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), with which the case at bar is certified to be in conflict, was correctly decided.

## Point 2.

Because the evidence shows petitioner's conduct is exempted from criminal conduct by the parental privilege, or does not otherwise meet the definition of felony child abuse, he must be discharged. The decision of the Fourth District holds that the parental disciplinary privilege does not apply to felony child abuse, which is also certified to be in direct conflict with Wilson.

## Point 3.

The jury was accidentally misinstructed on an uncharged theory of aggravated child abuse in place of the offense of simple felony child abuse. This is fundamental error.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Point 1.

# THE FELONY CHILD ABUSE CONVICTION MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE IT IS NOT A LESSER OFFENSE IN THIS CASE

In this case the state charged aggravated child abuse by malicious punishment. The state sought and received an instruction on the lesser offense of felony child abuse, over defense objection, and the trial court entered judgment for felony child abuse. Since felony child abuse is not a lesser of the offense of aggravated child abuse in this parental discipline case, the Fourth District's decision must be vacated, and petitioner discharged.

The state charged aggravated child abuse under Section 827.03 (2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1998) R4, and at trial the state said it was traveling only on the "maliciously punish" theory of the statute. T275. The defense at trial was that petitioner was disciplining the child. T296.

The parental discipline privilege originally derived from the common  $law^6$  was articulated in *Kama v. State*, 507 So.2d 154 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> However, the trial court read the wrong instruction to the jury, using the definition of an alternative, uncharged crime of aggravated child abuse to describe what it told them was the lesser offense. This related issue is addressed in point 3.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  The standard of review of statutory construction is de novo. Dept. of Insurance v. Keys Title, 741 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); City of Jacksonville v. Cook, 765 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

<sup>&</sup>quot;The parents' fundamental right to discipline their children" also derives from the right to privacy provision of the Florida Constitution. J.C. & S.C. v. Dept. of Children and Families, 773 So. 2d 1220, 1222 (Fla.  $4^{th}$  DCA 2000) (citing Beagle

## 1st DCA 1987):

Although a person who spanks a child technically commits a battery, the parties do not dispute the well established principle that a parent, or one acting in loco parentis, does not commit a crime by inflicting corporal punishment on a child subject to his authority, if he remains within the legal limits of the exercise of that authority. The determination that a parent, or one standing in the position of parent, has overstepped the bounds of permissible conduct in the discipline of a child presupposes either that the punishment was motivated by malice, and not by an educational purpose; that it was inflicted upon frivolous pretenses; that it was excessive, cruel or merciless; or that it has resulted in `great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement'. Otherwise, persons in positions of authority over children would have no way to judge the propriety of their conduct under the criminal standard.

(Footnotes omitted).7

Since Kama, and before the child abuse statute was changed in 1996, the courts held that battery, and that both misdemeanor and

Section 827.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) previously defined third degree felony child abuse:

v. Beagle, 678 So. 2d 1271, 1276 (Fla. 1996)) ("we hold that the State may not intrude upon the parents' fundamental right to raise their children except in cases where the child is threatened with harm").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also Marshall v. Reams, 32 Fla. 499, 14 So. 95, 97 (1893) ("We do not desire to be understood as denying the right of a parent, or one standing in loco parentis, to moderately chastise for correction a child under his or her control and authority....").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section 827.03, Fla. Stat. (1995) previously defined the second degree felony of aggravated child abuse:

<sup>(1) &</sup>quot;Aggravated child abuse" is defined as one or more acts committed by a person who:

<sup>(</sup>a) Commits aggravated battery on a child;

<sup>(</sup>b) Willfully tortures a child;

<sup>(</sup>c) maliciously punishes a child; or

<sup>(</sup>d) Willfully and unlawfully cages a child.

felony child abuse could not be a lesser offense of aggravated child abuse by malicious punishment when the circumstances involved parental discipline of a child. Kama; State v. Coffman, 746 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) ("We agree with Kama, as there is no authority indicating that simple battery is a lesser-included offense of aggravated child abuse based on malicious punishment. See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) P. 365. In fact, there are no necessarily or permissible lesser-included offenses indicated in the standard jury instructions for aggravated child abuse under any provision of section 827.03, Florida Statutes (1995")). Accord, A.J. v. State, 721 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998); Overway v. State, 718 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998); Mohammed v. State, 561 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (felony child abuse by culpable negligence not lesser).

In the significant statutory rewriting of the child abuse laws in 1996, the legislature created felony child abuse, and defined it as follows:

## (1) "Child abuse" means:

Whoever, willfully or by culpable negligence, deprives a child of, or allows a child to be deprived of, necessary food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment, or who, knowingly or by culpable negligence, inflicts or permits the infliction of physical or mental injury to the child, and in so doing causes great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement to such child, . . .

Section 827.04(2), Fla. Stat. (1995) defined misdemeanor child abuse the same as 827.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1995), except the conduct must not have caused great bodily harm, permanent disability or permanent disfigurement.

- (a) Intentional infliction of physical or mental injury upon a child;
- (b) An intentional act that could reasonably be expected to result in physical or mental injury to a child;
- (c) Active encouragement of any person to commit an act that results or could reasonably be expected to result in physical or mental injury to a child.

A person who knowingly or willfully abuses a child without causing great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement to the child commits a felony of the third degree....

Section 827.03(1), Fla. Stat. (1998). Amended section 827.03(1), Fla. Stat. (1998) makes child abuse a third degree felony where the person knowingly or willfully abuses a child without causing great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement to the child" in the manner described. This crime can be a lesser where the main charge is brought under Section 827.03(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1998), which punishes the person who "knowingly or willfully abuses a child and in so doing causes great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement to the child." However, where the crime charges a parent or a person acting as one with "maliciously punish[ing]" the child, the exemption described in Kama must apply to both the main charge as well as the lesser. The First District agreed in Wilson v. State, 744 So. 2d 1237, 1240 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)

In Wilson, the court reviewed the new statute and held

This new crime of felony child abuse was enacted well after our *Kama* decision as part of the legislature's 1996 revision and amendment of the criminal child abuse

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