### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-379 L.T.No. 4D98-4341

WILLIE RAFORD,

Petitioner,

-vs-

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

MELYNDA L. MELEAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 765570 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Third Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 688-7759

##

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

### POINT II

PETITIONER WAS PROPERLY CONVICTED IN THIS CASE.<sup>2</sup>
Standard of Review

It is well settled that a motion for judgment of acquittal should only be granted when it is apparent that no legally sufficient evidence has been submitted under which a jury could find a verdict of guilty. Toole v. State, 472 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 1985); Lynch v. State, 239 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974). In moving for a judgment of acquittal, the defendant admits all facts in the evidence adduced and every reasonable conclusion favorable to the prosecution that a jury might fairly and reasonably infer from the evidence. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So. 2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975); Lynch, 293 So. 2d at 45.

#### Discussion

Whether in any particular case the punishment inflicted was permissible or excessive is a factual issue for the jury to decide in light of the victim's age, condition, and other attendant circumstances. Lowery v. State, 641 So. 2d 489, 490 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). In this case, the State showed that Petitioner intentionally inflicted physical and mental harm on the victim, in excess of any touching designed to serve as discipline. The evidence showed that Petitioner left the young victim in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This point is outside the scope of the issue with which the Fourth District certified conflict (A. 5).

situation in which he was likely to get excited and have an accident, and then some time later, based on what others told him, repeatedly struck the victim with a belt, hard enough to leave bruises on the victim's back, buttocks, and leg.

Juan Lara, Sr., testified that when he picked up his son, the victim, for visitation on January 4, the victim had black and blue bruises on his buttocks, legs and lower back (T. 230-232). He identified the marks in photographs (T. 232-233). The victim testified that Petitioner hit him when he was at a party at his cousin's house because he pooped in this pants (T. 241). He said that Petitioner struck him with a belt on his butt, back and leg (T. 241-242). He said that it hurt, and that he cried (T. 242). J.L., Jr. testified that he saw Petitioner and the victim go into a room when they were at their cousin's house (T. 248). He said that he heard the victim scream (T. 248). He stated that the victim later showed him bruises (T. 248, 251).

Detective Robert Cerak testified that he took photographs of the victim at around 12:35 on January 4 (T. 252-253). The photographs were admitted into evidence (T. 253-254). The trial court noted, outside the presence of the jury, that the photographs depicted contusions in the left upper back, the left buttocks, and the left leg (T. 275). The prosecutor noted that there was a ruler used in the photos to indicate the size of the injuries (T. 298). Certainly, the jury could gleam from the photographs whether the

bruises were significant and whether they were likely to have lasted for a period of time.<sup>3</sup> See B.L. v. Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services, 545 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (evidence of long lasting bruising constituted evidence of excessive corporal punishment).

In <u>Herbert v. State</u>, 526 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the court held that there was sufficient evidence from which the jury could find that the defendant committed aggravated child abuse by striking the child a number of times with a belt on his buttocks and other body parts. The court in <u>Lowery v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) also determined that a jury issue was presented as to whether aggravated child abuse was committed by the defendant striking the child with a electrical cord three times on the buttock area. The State submits that the evidence in this case similarly allowed the jury to find that Petitioner intentionally inflicted injury on the child outside the boundaries of permissible discipline. <u>See Honc v. State</u>, 698 S.W. 2d 218 (Tex. App. 1985) (evidence established child abuse resulting in bodily injury where father hit fourteen year old with belt for eating candy, etc., where bruises were left on legs and buttocks).

Indeed, the court in <u>Castro v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 652, 653 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) deferred to the trial court's determination that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The photographs were made part of the supplemental record on appeal.

the defendant committed aggravated child abuse. The trial court's conclusion was based on its viewing of photographs, taken three days after the alleged abuse, which were introduced into evidence. The photos revealed extensive bruising on the child's buttocks. In this case, the photographs of the victim showed bruising not just on the buttocks, but also on the back and leg. Although they were taken one day after the abuse, the jury could have reasonably concluded that the bruises would be long lasting based on their appearance at that time.

The cases cited by Petitioner are not instructive in this case. In M.O. v. Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services, 575 So. 2d 1352 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), the hearing officer did not base its decision that the corporal punishment was excessive based on the physical evidence. In fact, the marks on the child were described as "red marks," and not bruises. Instead, the hearing officer found that the punishment was egregious because of the use of a paddle which broke, and because the child had special needs, making him more vulnerable. The court rejected these findings, though, because the paddling had been a previously approved form of discipline in light of the child's special needs, and because the paddle broke due to its being glued together.

In <u>J.C. v. Dept. of Children and Families</u>,773 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) the only evidence of abuse was a photograph of a single bruise on the child, which was taken shortly after the

abuse. The Fourth District, therefore, stated that there was no evidence of significant bruises or welts, necessary to make a finding of temporary disfigurement. In this case, on the other hand, there were multiple bruises of significant size on the victim's buttocks, back, and leg. In addition, the photograph was taken a full day after the abuse.

Finally, in R.S.M. v. Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services, 640 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), the court suggested that the hearing officer's finding of excessive punishment may have been grounded on an irrebuttable presumption of abuse based on the presence of bruises lasting more than 24 hours, because it stated that it had previously disapproved this type of presumption as a denial of due process. It then stated that based on the facts before it, it could not conclude that there was abuse because the son who called the department did so because he wanted to live with his mother in another state, and that he later recanted his claim that the discipline was abuse. Here, there was evidence that the victim was screaming and crying at the time of the whacks with a belt, and that the resulting bruises were significant.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY.  $^4$ 

### Standard of Review

The standard of review applied to a decision to give or withhold a jury instruction is abuse of discretion. <u>James v. State</u>, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997). This same standard applies with regard to the trial court's decision on what a supplemental instruction should be. <u>See Henry v. State</u>, 359 So. 2d 864, 866 (Fla. 1978).

#### Discussion

Petitioner argues that retrial is required because the jury was instructed on an offense other than that for which he was convicted. Respondent first contends that Petitioner did not preserve this issue for appeal. Respondent disagrees that Petitioner's general objection to the giving of instruction on simple child abuse is the same as his argument on appeal and review, that the jury was improperly instructed on this offense. Once the decision to give the instruction was made, Petitioner needed to object to any error in the proposed or given instructions. See Tolbert v. State, 679 So. 2d 816, 818 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (en banc). This was not done.

Rather, defense counsel, after being informed of the trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This point is outside the scope of the issue with which the Fourth District certified conflict (A. 5).

court's intentions in instructing the jury, agreed to the instructions. He went further, over the trial court's suggestion that the great bodily harm/permanent injury language was not applicable, and asked that the jury be instructed on this element. In other words, defense counsel requested the language in the instruction later deemed erroneous. By requesting the given instruction, the invited error was not fundamental. See State v. Lucas, 645 So. 2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994); Armstrong v. State, 579 So. 2d 734, 735 (Fla. 1991).

In going over the elements of the "lesser offense of child abuse," defense counsel told the trial court that he thought it had to include the portion of the instruction on great bodily harm, even though the trial court had suggested that it did not apply (T. 279-280). Defense counsel then inquired about the definition of great bodily harm (T. 282). He asked that the trial court read all three categories of this portion of the instruction: great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement (T. 281-282).

When the trial court read the instructions to the jury, Petitioner did not object to the instructions as given (T. 318). See Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978) (alleged errors in jury instructions must be timely asserted in trial court subject only to limited exception of fundamental error). Instead, he had actually anticipated theses instructions in making his closing

argument to the jury, thereby emphasizing them. Defense counsel told the jury that before it could find the lesser offense of child abuse, it would have to find great bodily harm, permanent disability or permanent disfigurement (T. 295, 316).

The issue of the given instructions including the element of aggravated child abuse was not raised until after the jury had retired and submitted questions to the court. See Rule 3.390(d), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (no party shall assign as error on appeal the giving of an instruction where he did not object thereto before the jury retired and where he did not distinctly state the grounds of the objection). When the jury asked for definitions of "without legal justification or excuse" and of "great bodily harm," the parties searched for possible definitions (T. 330, 332-333). They Shepardized the statutes in question, and discovered that the trial court had read the elements of aggravated child abuse as a lesser included offense because of the inclusion of great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement (T. 334-337).

The trial court suggested that it give the jury a correct statement of the law on the lesser included offense, but defense counsel was worried that it would obviate his argument (T. 337). Defense counsel asked the trial court to tell the jury to refer to the law and just send the case back, or start the whole thing over (T. 337). When the trial court said that it did not see any reason

to have to start the whole case over, defense counsel clarified that he meant if the trial court was reinstructing the jury (T. 337). The trial court said that decision was not final, to which defense counsel said, "They've heard the law on the case and that's the law" (T. 337). Defense counsel agreed that the trial court should tell the jury to follow the law as contained in the final instructions (T. 338).

The prosecutor said that they would thereby be asking the jury to find an element that was erroneously given to them (T. 338) In the discussion that followed, defense counsel finally realized that the other child abuse on which the jury was instructed was a second degree felony (T. 338). He then suggested that the trial court instruct the jury that the other child abuse was no longer a charge for consideration (T. 339). The prosecutor disagreed since the jury had already been instructed on it (T. 339). The trial court then proposed, because it felt that instruction on child abuse was warranted but that the parties had all relied on an additional element, that if the jury found Petitioner guilty of the alternative child abuse, then it would be considered a third degree felony (T. 340).

The trial court reasoned that the elements of aggravated child abuse under this theory and simple child abuse were the same except for the extent of injury (T. 340). It said that it could not just tell the jury to disregard the additional element, as requested by

the State, because defense counsel had relied heavily on it in his argument (T. 341). Defense counsel stated, "I would have a hard time saying I was prejudiced by that one." (T. 340). He told the trial court that if it just told the jury that what it instructed them to was the law, "that's fine with us" (T. 341-342). Defense counsel did not object when the trial court told the jury that it would have to rely on the instructions previously given to it (T. 342).

Hence, even after the issue became clear, defense counsel affirmatively acquiesced to the given instruction. See Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974) (where trial court extends counsel an opportunity to object, but counsel fails to do so, any error is invited).

In the case of an incomplete instruction, where the defense agrees to it, the error is not fundamental. State v. Lucas, 645 So. 2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994); Armstrong v. State, 579 So. 2d 734, 735 (Fla. 1991). Arguably, this is also true in the case of an instruction that includes an additional element. After all, by the inclusion of great bodily harm or permanent injury, the State was required to make more of a showing than simple bodily or mental injury, increasing its burden. This fact differentiates this case from the situation where a trial court fails to instruct on an element of a crime, thereby easing the State's burden.

Regardless, fundamental error occurs only in cases "where a

jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its applications." Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). The instant case does not fall within this exception. First, generally, erroneous instruction on a lesser included offense is not fundamental error when the improperly charged offense is lesser in degree than the primary offense. Greene v. State, 714 So. 2d 554, 555 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (both primary offense and alternatively charged offense third degree felonies). In this case, Petitioner was convicted of a third degree felony instead of the second degree felony for which he was charged.

In addition, the State focused its case on the malicious punishment prong of aggravated child abuse, as noted by Petitioner.

See Graves v. State, 704 So. 2d 147, 149 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (fundamental error did not occur in instructing jury that sexual battery could be found based on digital union or penetration where State only focused on evidence of penetration).

Moreover, failing to instruct on an element of the crime over which the record reflects there was no dispute is not fundamental error. Hipp v. State, 650 So. 2d 91, 93 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Starks v. State, 627 So. 2d 1194, 1197 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Evans v. State, 625 So. 2d 915, 916 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Here, Petitioner did not contest that he hit the victim with a belt and that bruising resulted. By finding all the elements of aggravated child abuse

marked by great bodily harm or permanent injury, the jury implicitly found bodily harm, the required element under simple child abuse.

Petitioner contends that the giving of instruction on an "uncharged offense," the bodily harm/ permanent injury aggravated child abuse, is fundamental error. However, Petitioner never objected, at any time below, that the elements of great bodily harm or permanent injury where not alleged in the information. The court in Tolbert v. State, 679 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (en banc) held that fundamental error did not occur when the trial court instructed on aggravated battery as a lesser included offense of sexual battery where the information did not allege great bodily harm.

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